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"A fieldstone fortress-of-a-house surrounded by a chain-link fence is the
most impressive vestige of the once thriving but now dead Quaker community
of Wrightsboro. The house was abandoned in 1950 but in 1966 was bought by
a Foundation formed to investigate and publicize this little-known late 18th
Century Georgia community. When the Foundation acquired the house, wvandals
had damaged its interior woodwork, its windows and seemingly indestructible
rock walls and chimneys but despite years of neglect and use, enough survived
to tell about the unsettled period after the Revolution when Thomas Ansley
and his family shared in the life of old Wrightsboro. The Quaker Foundation
is slowly and carefully restoring the missing pieces and in time "Rock House,
as described below, will be a three-dimensional document of a Quaker communitly
which flourished in Georgia before and after the American Revolution.
EXTERIOR: Twenty-four-inch-thick field stone walls covered with cement scored
to resemble blocks of sandétone rise two full stories to form a pltched roof
giving a full attic story under the gable. Enclosed in both gable ends are
chimneys and out of each end at the angle of the roof a low chimney stack
rises. At the rear eave line is an orlglnal box cornice with a simple late
18th Century profile. The original cornice on the front facade was obliter-
ated by the addition of a shed porch. Across the front at the main floor
level, reading left to right, are window, paired doorways, paired windows.
At the basement story level are two small windows on either side of an entranfce
At the rear are seven openings: the basement level repeats the pattern of
the front; the main floor level, left to right, shows two windows, one door-
way, one window. Each gable end has four widely separated windows on the
main floor and two at the attic. The Quaker Foundation has covered all win-
dows with solid wooden shutters, and the roof with tin.

INTERIOR: The first story is a seven-foot high unpartitioned basement with
one fireplace. The second or main floor consists of five rooms with three
fireplaces one of which is in a corner. One enters this story through either
of two dooxrways. Each door enters a different room; the left is 14'x16' and
the right 16'x 16'. Each of these rooms has a large fireplace. On the left
the fireplace opening is 42'x 46', and 27" deep. On the right the opening is
79"x 50" and 36" deep. Beams across each fireplace opening are 14"x 14".

The partitions separating these rooms are wide pine boards laid horizontally.
Across the back of the house are three small rxooms, the smallest of these, in
the right hand corner, is locally called the "birthing room"; it has an anglegd
fireplace connected with the flue of the chimney in the right hand front room.
The middle room has a doorway leading outside and one window. One reaches
the attic story by way of stairs on the fireplace wall of the right hand room|.
It contains two rooms (the partition is a replacement). Four windows, two
in each gable, light these rooms. Throughout, the rock wa e unpanelled
All in all it is a rough-hewn, fortress-like, fr0nt1er,q£f&§§?k 2 iscent
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

small Quaker communlty of erghts‘orough a colony which flourlshec in the
Possibly unique in another aspect also, the house is the only known stone
residence from a period in Georgia when brick and wood were the most com-
mon building materials..

Thomas Ansley's origins may have influenced him to build a house of
stone. He was born and was married in Freehold, New Jersey, an area where
such construction was not uncommon. Sometime after he married Rebecca
Cox in 1760, he moved to North Carollna and in 1768 migrated to Georgia
with a group of 40 Quaker families heading for a 12,000 acre reserve of
land on the frontier of a colony known for religious tolerance. (Eventually
he and Rebecca would have a family of eight children, six sons and two
daughters.)

On July 3, 1770, when 1000 acres of the reserve were set aside to
make the town of Wrightsboro, Thomas Ansley received town lot number 28,

a one-acre lot. Nothing is known about his house in town. We assume one
existed since he did not acquire the acreage upon which "Rock House" lies
until after the Revolution. During the war, Ansley served as a forager
-and drover for the Army, and worked also as a teamster, but did not bear
arms. After the war, from 1783 to 1785 he received grants totalling
nearly 2400 acres. "Rock House" was built on part of this land sometime
during those years. It was south of Wrightsboro town limits (about three
miles northwest of present day Thomson) but within Wrightsboro Township,
a political unit encompassing all of present McDuffie County, and parts
of Warren and Columbia.

When Ansley died in 1809, he left the estate of a well-to-do farmer.
It contained eight slaves with the average value of $400 each, four houses,
21 head of cattle, some pigs, geese, sheep, etc. He left wagons, plows,
tools, grain, beef and household articles including $13 worth of books.

In June 1773, the naturalist William Bartram visited the village of
Wrightsboro, later he wrote:

Wrightsburge is a late but thriving Settlement, on a branch of
Little River which runs into Savana River[;] the inhabitants are
for the most part emigrants from the North Colonies, under the con-
duct of Joseph Mattox, Esqg. Who obtain'd a grant of these Lands

(cont.)
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

with a priviledge of settling with such People as he should approve
of And he being a Quaker by profession, most of his followers are

of that Society. It is called Wrightsborough in honor to the Gov-
ernor, Sr. James Wright, who granted Mr. Mattox the priviledge of

a Burrow in his little Colony; The Town is already laid out & about
20 houses built; several Traders in it & goods are sold as cheap
here as at Augusta, Sugar Rum, Salt, and dry Goods, etc.

Except for Wrightsboro Cemet%}y, Thomas Ansley's "Rock House" is the last
vestige of that community. Wrightsboro Quaker Preservation Foundation, Inc.,
has been formed to preserve that remnant, and to keep alive the memory

and spirit of the area's Quaker cultural heritage, a time when Georgia

was an expanding frontier and at the same time the most philanthropic and
liberal of the thirteen colonies.

The house was occupied until 1950; afterwards vandals began wrecking
the interior woodwork, windows, and even the rock walls. Since acquiring
the house and acre of land in 1964, the Foundation has fenced the property,
shuttered the window openings, repaired the rock work, and replaced interior
partitions with lumber from another old house. A cedar shake roof is the
next project. Approximately $2000.00 has been spent and much free time
and effort given. (The Foundation is indeed a society of friends of the
18th Century Georgia Quakers.)
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